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U.S. Commodity Futures Trading
Commission,

Plaintiff,

vs.

Douglas Elsworth Wilson, Elsworth Berg
Capital Management LLC, Elsworth Berg
Inc., and Elsworth Berg FX LLC,

Defendants.

Civil Action No:

.Judge:

COMPLAINT FOR INJUNCTIVE
AND OTHER EQUITABLE RELIEF
AND PENALTIES UNDER THE
COMMODITY EXCHANGE ACT
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The U.S. Commodity Futures Trading Commission ("CFTC" or "Commission"), by and

through its attorneys, hereby alleges as follows:

I. Summary

1. Beginning no later than February 2006, Defendants Douglas Elsworth Wilson

("Wilson"), Elsworth Berg Capital Management LLC ("EBCM"), Elsworth Berg Inc. ("EBI"),

and Elsworth Berg FX LLC ("EBFX") solicited at least $4.4 million from over 60 customers to

trade, among other financial instruments, foreign currency ("forex") and commodity futures

contracts ("futures"). Defendants traded customer funds in several different trading products

including the Velocity Trading Group LLC ("Velocity"), a commodity pool; Vortex Currency

Group LLC ("Vortex"), a forex trading pool; and Elsworth Berg FX Managed Accounts

("EBFXMA"), a program that managed individual forex client trading accounts (collectively,

the "Elsworth Products").

2. Defendants willfully or recklessly misrepresented to customers and prospective

customers that regardless of the Elsworth Products' performance trading high-risk financial

instruments, the return of their customers' investment principal was "secured" or "guaranteed" at

the end of a five-year period through use of a purportedly innovative "Collateral Reserve"

structure. Through the "Collateral Reserve," a 30% portion of each customer's initial

contribution to the Elsworth Products was to be invested in a pool of life insurance policies that

would purportedly increase in value to the point that they would cover any trading losses

generated in trading the remaining 70% of customer contributions. The policies held by the

Collateral Reserve "matured" upon the death of an insured, entitling the Collateral Reserve to the

face value of the policy.

3. The assets held in the Collateral Reserve, however, could not guarantee

Defendants' ability to make their customers whole, because the value of the Collateral Reserve
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assets depended in large part on the unforeseeable timing of the deaths of a very small number of

insureds.

4. The Elsworth Products' trading activities resulted in significant losses. While

EBCM and EBI initially paid the Collateral Reserve life insurance premiums for several years

without any of its policies maturing, they eventually stopped paying policy premiums. By

January 2008, all but one of the Collateral Reserve's policies had lapsed, and the remaining

policy could not cover the trading· losses that it purportedly secured. EBCM, by and through

Wilson, failed to disclose this material fact to Elsworth Product customers.

5. In the months following these policy lapses, from May through September 2008,

EBCM took approximately $72,000 in customer funds that certain EBCM customers wanted to

transfer into the Velocity futures pool, and misappropriated them for other purposes. From at

least June 2008 to December 2009, EBCM also issued Velocity pool participant account

statements that falsely reflected that the money had in fact been transferred, falsely overstating

the value of participant interests in the pool.

6. Furthermore, EBCM and Wilson each have acted in a capacity requiring

registration with the Commission without the benefit of registration. Velocity operated as a

commodity pool under the Act, while EBCM acted as Velocity's commodity pool operator

("CPO") and Wilson served as an associated person ("AP") of EBCM. With certain exceptions

not relevant here, both CPOs and APs are required to register under the Act, which EBCM and

Wilson failed to do.

7. By virtue of this conduct and the conduct described further below, Defendants

have violated the Commodity Exchange Act ("Act"), as amended by the Food, Conservation, and

Energy Act of 2008, Pub. L. No. 110-246, Title XIII (the CFTC Reauthorization Act of 2008

("CRA")), §§ 13101-13204, 122 Stat. 1651 (enacted June 18,2008). Unless restrained and
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enjoined by this Court, Defendants are likely to engage in the acts and practices alleged in this

complaint, or in similar acts and practices. The CFTC accordingly brings this action to enjoin

Defendants' unlawful acts and practices and to compel their compliance with the Act. In

addition, the CFTC seeks restitution, disgorgement, civil monetary penalties, permanent trading

and registration bans, and such other statutory or equitable relief as this Court may deem

necessary or appropriate.

II. Jurisdiction and Venue

8. This Court has jurisdiction over this action pursuant to Section 6c(a) of the Act,

7 U.S.C. § 13a-l(a) (2006). Section 6c(a) of the Act authorizes the CFTC to seek injunctive

relief against any person whenever it shall appear to the CFTC that such person has engaged, is

engaging or is about to engage in any act or practice constituting a violation of any provision of

the Act or any rule, regulation or order promulgated thereunder.

9. Venue properly lies with this Court pursuant to Section 6c(e) of the Act, 7 U.S.C.

§ 13a-I (e) (2006), because Defendants transacted business in this District, Wilson resides in this

District, and the acts and practices in violation of the Act have occurred, are occurring or are

about to occur within this District.

III. The Parties

10. Plaintiff Commodity Futures Trading Commission is an independent federal

regulatory agency that is charged by Congress with administering and enforcing the Act,

7 U.S.C. §§ 1 et seq" as amended by the CRA and the Dodd-Frank Wall Street Reform and

Consumer Protection Act of2010 ("Dodd-Frank Act"), Pub. L. No. 111-203, Title VII (the Wall

Street Transparency and Accountability Act of2010), §§701-774, 124 Stat. 1376 (enacted

July 21,2010), to be codified at 7 U.S.C. §§ 1 et seq" and the regulations promulgated

thereunder, 17 C.F.R. §§ 1.1 et seq. (2011).
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11. Defendant Elsworth Berg Capital Management LLC ("EBCM") is a suspended

California limited liability company formed in August 2001 with a business address in San

Diego, California, EBCM's principals were Wilson, William B. Settles ("Settles"), and (for a

portion of the company's existence) Lawrence E. Freeman ("Freeman"). EBCM acted as a CPO

of the Velocity pool. EBCM also controlled and managed the Vortex pool, which engaged in

forex trading. EBCM was at one time a California-registered Investment Adviser, but its

investment adviser certificate was summarily revoked by the California Corporations

Commissioner on November 4,2010. EBCM has never been registered with the Commission in

any capacity.

12. Defendant Elsworth Berg Inc. ("EBI") is a former Nevada corporation formed in

August 2001 with a business address in San Diego, California. EBI's current registration status

with Nevada is "revoked." EBI's principals were Wilson, Settles, and (for a portion of the

company's existence) Freeman. Among other business activities, EBI held assets for the

Collateral Reserve portion of customer investments in the ElswOlih Products. EBI has never

been registered with the Commission in any capacity.

13. Defendant Elsworth Berg FX LLC is a California limited liability company

formed in June 2007 with a business address in San Diego, California. EBFX's principals are

Wilson and Settles. From at least July 2007 through January 2010, EBFX controlled and

managed EBFXMA by, among other activities, using client funds to trade individual forex

accounts on their behalf. EBFX has never been registered with the Commission in any capacity.

14. Defendant Douglas Elsworth Wilson is a co-founder ofEBCM, EBI, and EBFX.

He has served as President of EBCM and EBI, as a Member of Elsworth Berg FX LLC and

Vortex CUTI'ency Group LLC, and as a Manager of Velocity Trading Group LLC. For the entire

period of their existence, Wilson was an officer, director, and/or partner in EBCM, EBI, and

4
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EBFX, and controlled all three entities. Wilson resides in Poway, California, and has never been

registered with the Commission in any capacity.

IV. Statutory Background

15. A "commodity pool" is defined in Commission Regulation ("Regulation")

4.1 O(d)(l), 17 C.F.R. § 4.1 O(d)(l) (2011), as any investment trust, syndicate or similar form of

enterprise operated for the purpose of trading commodity interests.

16. A CPO is defined in Section 1a(S) of the Act, 7 U.S.C. § 1(a)(S) (2006), as any

person engaged in a business that is of the nature of an investment trust, syndicate or similar

form of enterprise and who, in connection therewith, solicits, accepts or receives from others

funds, securities or propeliy, either directly or through capital contributions, the sale of stock or

other forms of securities or otherwise, for the purpose of trading in any commodity for future

delivery on or subject to the rules of any contract market.

17. An AP of a CPO is defined in Regulation 1.3(aa)(3), 17 C.F.R. § 1.3(aa)(3)

(2011), in relevant part, as any natural person associated with a CPO "as a patineI', officer,

employee, consultant, or agent (or any natural person occupying a similar status or performing

similar functions), in any capacity which involves (i) the solicitation of funds, securities, or

property for a participation in a commodity pool or (ii) the supervision of any person or persons

so engaged."

18. A "participant" is defined in Regulation 4. 1O(c), 17 C.F.R. § 4.10(c) (2011), as

any person who has any direct financial interest in a commodity pool.

5
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V. Defendants' Fraudulent Scheme

A. The EBCM Investment Offerings

19. EBCM first offered its Vortex forex product in late 2005, and the first Vortex

pool participant invested in February 2006. EBCM solicited over $3.3 million from

approximately 42 Vortex participants by June 2008.

20. The Vortex pool traded from February 2006 through November 2008. EBCM

marketed Vortex as a "secured" investment protected by use of the Collateral Reserve. EBCM

received management and performance fees in connection with its management of Vortex.

21. In September 2006, EBCM first accepted investments in its Velocity commodity

pool, which used the same Collateral Reserve as Vortex. From October 2006 to November 2008,

EBCM solicited over $1.1 million from approximately 21 pool participants.

22. While EBCM described Velocity as a "managed account" product, it actually

operated as a commodity pool by pooling participant funds and trading them using a common

strategy. EBCM received management and performance fees in connection with its management

of Velocity.

23. In June 2007, EBCM formed EBFX, which in turn managed EBFXMA. The

Collateral Reserve was an optional component of EBFXMA, used by some, but not all of its

clients. From at least March 2008 through January 2010, EBFX managed domestic forextrading

accounts on behalf of approximately 28 clients that at times collectively held well in excess of

$1 million. EBFX also solicited approximately $5 million that it managed in forex trading

accounts overseas.

B. The Nature of the Vortex and EBFXMA Forex Transactions

24. Neither Defendants nor the counterparties to the Vortex and EBFXMA forex

transactions were financial institutions, registered broker-dealers, insurance companies,

6
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investment holding companies, or investment bank holding companies, or the associated persons

of financial institutions, registered broker-dealers, insurance companies, financial holding

companies, or investment bank holding companies.

25. Most or all of Defendants' customers were not "eligible contract participants" as

that term is defined in Section la(12)(A)(xi) of the Act, 7 U.S.C. § la(12) (2006) (an "eligible

contract participant," as relevant here, is an individual with total assets in excess of:

(i) $10 million, or (ii) $5 million and who enters the transaction "to manage the risk associated

with an asset owned or liability incurred, or reasonably likely to be owned or incurred, by the

individual").

26. The Vortex and EBFXMA forex transactions were entered into on a leveraged or

margined basis. Vortex and EBFXMA were required to provide only a percentage of the value

of the forex contracts they purchased.

27. The Vortex and EBFXMA forex transactions neither resulted in delivery within

two days nor created an enforceable obligation to deliver between a seller and a buyer who had

the ability to deliver and accept delivery, respectively, in connection with their lines of business.

Instead, these forex transactions remained open from day to day and ultimately were offset

without anyone making or taking delivery of actual currency (or facing an obligation to do so).

C. The Fraudulent Collateral Reserve Structure

28. The Elsworth Products all used a "collateralized" structure that purportedly

"secured" customer investments by placing 30% of each customer's investment in a Collateral

Reserve account. The remaining 70% of customer investments were put into the customer's

"trading account" and were used to trade financial instruments including forex, futures, and

equity options. Defendants represented that regardless of the trading performance, through the

7
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operation of the Collateral Reserve, customers would at a minimum receive a return of their

principal investment amount five years after they invested.

29. Defendants further represented that following a one-year "lock-up period,"

Elsworth Product customers requesting a full withdrawal of their investment would receive the

entire balance of their trading account plus the current "surrender value" of their Collateral

Reserve. Defendants represented that the surrender value of the Collateral Reserve was 20% of

the initial Collateral Reserve contribution multiplied by the number of full years that the

customer had been invested in an Elsworth Product.

30. In their solicitation materials for the Elsworth Products, Defendants repeatedly

assured customers that they could not lose money by investing in the Elsworth Products,

including by describing the products as "Principal Secured," and by explaining that the Collateral

Reserve provided "the security of a 100% collateralized principal guarantee."

31. The Collateral Reserve assets consisted of cash and life insurance policies on third

parties that were largely held by EBI, which acquired them through life settlement transactions.

A life settlement is a transaction in which an insurance policy owner sells a life insurance policy

to a third party for an amount that exceeds the policy's cash surrender value (the amount an

insurance company would pay an insured for the policy), but is less than the expected death

benefit of the policy.

32. Following a life settlement transaction, life settlement investors must pay periodic

premiums to keep the policy active while awaiting maturity of the policy through the death of the

insured.

33. The number of life insurance policies held by the Collateral Reserve varied over

time, but never exceeded five policies.

8
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34. The same Collateral Reserve assets were used by the Velocity, Vortex, and

EBFXMA products, so customer investments in all three of these products were purportedly

secured or guaranteed by the same assets.

35. If the Collateral Reserve were required to cover substantial trading losses by

fulfilling its obligations to its customers as described above, some, if not all, of Defendants'

policies would need to mature before those obligations accrued.

36. Defendants failed to perform or obtain actuarial analysis sufficient to determine

the likelihood that the insureds of the Collateral Reserve's five policies would die "in time" to

satisfy the obligations of the Collateral Reserve. Defendants had no assurance that the insureds

of the Collateral Reserve's limited number of policies would die before Collateral Reserve

obligations accrued.

37. Defendants willfully or recklessly misrepresented to customers and prospective

customers that the Collateral Reserve would guarantee or secure customer investments, and, as a

result, misrepresented the risk of loss associated with the ElswOlih Products.

38. EBCM's partners were jointly responsible for developing the flawed collateral

reserve structure. EBCM partner Lawrence E. Freeman was EBCM's purported expert on life

settlement policies, developed the "70/30 split" between the Collateral Reserve and trading

account assets, and later publicly claimed to have "developed the first collateralized currency

trading platform to protect investors' funds from losses."

39. On June 26,2007, Freeman resigned and withdrew as a partner in all EBCM-

related entities. Wilson was intimately familiar with the structure and operations of the

Collateral Reserve, and after Mr. Freeman's resignation continued to make representations to

customers and potential customers concerning the "security" the Collateral Reserve purportedly

provided.

9
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D. The Fraudulent Collateral Reserve Structure Failed

40. The Velocity and Vortex trading accounts suffered heavy trading losses. The

Vortex trading account suffered losses of over 75% from February 2006 to November 2008. The

Velocity trading account suffered losses of over 98% from October 2006 to June 2009.

41. The poor trading performance of the Velocity and Vortex products led

participants to withdraw their funds, requiring EBCM and EBI to redeem to those participants

the "vested" portion of their Collateral Reserve accounts. The Collateral Reserve assets

dwindled as a result. By January 2009, EBCM and EBI were not redeeming the "vested" portion

of the Collateral Reserve to customers who withdrew their accounts in full.

42. EBCM and EBI also eventually failed to make premium payments necessary to

keep four of the Collateral Reserve's five life insurance policies in force. As a result, by January

2008, all but one of the life insurance policies lapsed, and the Collateral Reserve was no longer

entitled to any payment from the lapsed policies upon death of an insured.

43. The face value on the policy that remained in force was $1 million. Because

trading losses in collateralized accounts already exceeded $1 million in January 2008,

Defendants knew at that time that the Collateral Reserve could not cover its guarantee

obligations to Elsworth Product customers even if that single remaining policy matured.

44. Despite this knowledge, Defendants willfully or recklessly failed to disclose to

customers of the Elsworth Products that the Collateral Reserve was unable to satisfy the

Elsworth Products' "principal guarantee."

45. Instead, Defendants continued to affirmatively misrepresent to customers of the

Elsworth Products that they would receive a return of their principal investment after five years.

For example, in summer and fall of2008 and as late as February of2009, Wilson wrote letters to

10
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Vortex participants assuring them that they would receive their Collateral Reserve balance plus a

return of their trading losses on the five-year anniversary of their initial investment.

46. Furthermore, in 2009, EBCM issued account statements to Velocity and Vortex

participants that listed the amount of trading losses as "Collateral Offset Due," and listed the five

year anniversary of participants' initial contributions as the "Collateral Reserve Maturity Date."

These account statements failed to include any accompanying disclosure that the Collateral

Reserve could not satisfy its guarantee obligations and that EBCM had no reasonable expectation

of returning trading losses on a participant's "maturity date."

47. From May 2008 through November 2008, EBCM also accepted funds from at

least eight new Velocity futures pool participants and EBFX accepted two new collateralized

EBFXMA clients without disclosing the inability of the Collateral Reserve to satisfy its

guarantee obligations.

48. Furthermore, EBFX represented to at least 20 additional EBFXMA clients who

invested after January 2008 that their investments would be secured by a new so-called

"Cumulative Trust Deposit" Collateral Reserve option in which the client agreed to pay extra

fees for every forex trade executed in their account over a period of five· years (rather than the

"traditional" 30% Collateral Reserve contribution) in order to "collateralize" their accounts.

Despite the new name assigned to this option, it relied on the same Collateral Reserve assets

used to "collateralize" previous Elsworth Product customers.

49. Consequently, Wilson, EBCM, and EBFX willfully or recklessly failed to

disclose to customers of the Velocity and EBFXMA products who invested after January 2008

that the Collateral Reserve purportedly "securing" their investment was unable to fulfill that

function.

11
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E. EBCM and Wilson Misappropriated Customer Funds

2 50. Additionally, from approximately May 2008 through November 2008, eight

3

4

5

6

7

customers with accounts in other EBCM investment vehicles requested transfer of approximately

$72,000 into the Velocity pool. None of these funds were ever traded in the Velocity pool as the

customers intended. ECBM instead misappropriated these funds and used them for other

purposes.

8
F. EBCM Sent Velocity Pool Participants False Statements

9
51. From at least June 2008 through December 2009, EBCM issued periodic

10

11

12

13

14

statements to the Velocity pool participants that reflected a certain cash value of their shares of

the pool. The cash value of the accounts inaccurately represented that the roughly $72,000 that

EBCM was supposed to transfer to Velocity was indeed trading in the Velocity pool.

Consequently, EBCM issued false statements to the Velocity pool pmiicipants that overstated the

value of participants' shares of the pool.

15

16

G. EBCM Acted As A CPO Without Registration and Willfully Concealed That
Activity

17
52. In or around October 2007, Wilson applied for and received futures trading

18 capability in an account held in the name of Velocity at a registered futures commission

19 merchant ("FCM") referred to herein as "FCM A"

20 53. As a pmi ofFCM A's compliance procedures, on October 1,2007, FCM A

21

22

emailed Wilson (as Velocity's representative) asking a series ofquestions intended to ascertain

whether Velocity was acting in a capacity requiring registration under the Act.

23
54. Wilson ignored FCM A's inquiry. As a result, on November 12,2007, FCM A

24

25

26

27

28

sent Wilson a second copy of its October 1 communication, this time adding that a response was

required by November 26, 2007, and that if it did not arrive, the Velocity account would be

placed in "liquidation only" status. Wilson again ignored FCM A's inquiry, and on December

12
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11, 2007, the Velocity account was placed in "liquidation only" status, such that EBCM could no

longer trade the account other than to liquidate its open positions.

55. Shortly thereafter, on January 24, 2008, Wilson applied to open a new futures

account in the name of Velocity at a second FCM referred to herein as "FCM B." Wilson failed

to disclose to FCM B that Velocity was a pool, and opened the account in the name of Velocity

as a "Corporation/LLC" account rather than selecting the available option to open an account for

a "commodity pool."

56. As a part ofFCM B's compliance procedures, Wilson was asked to sign a letter

confirming that "our account is being traded with corporate funds only," and that "[w]e also do

not solicit customer funds." Wilson falsely certified these statements to be true.

H. EBCM and EBI Constituted a Common Enterprise

57. EBCM and EBI operated as a common enterprise, and each is liable for the

unlawful conduct of the other.

58. EBCM and EBI operated under the common ownership and control of Wilson,

Settles, and, for a portion ofthe entities' existence, Freeman.

59. EBCM and EBI shared common office space at 4370 La Jolla Village Drive, Suite

400, in San Diego, California.

60. With respect to the Vortex and Velocity pool products, EBCM told participants

that EBCM would maintain custody of all participant assets. The participants' Collateral

Reserve assets, however, were held by EBI rather than EBCM.

61. With respect to the EBFXMA product, EBCM told clients that Collateral Reserve

assets would be held in an "Elsworth Berg Collateral Reserve Trust" that EBCM would manage,

and for which EBCM would act as trustee. Collateralized EBFXMA clients executed a Trust

Agreement with EBCM. The "Elsworth Berg Collateral Reserve Trust" never actually held any

13
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2

assets, and the Collateral Reserve assets intended for use as the EBFXMA clients' Collateral

Reserve were instead held by EBI.

3
62. EBCM was the first of many related entities formed that operated under the

4

5

6

7

8

9

10

11

12

13

14

15

16

common control of Wilson, Freeman and Settles, including Elsworth Berg Inc., Elsworth Berg

Currency Master Fund LP, Vortex Currency Fund LP, Vortex Currency Group LLC, Velocity

Trading Group LLC, Elsworth Berg FX LLC, and EB Trading Solutions. EBCM operated at the

center of these entities, and collected EBCM's earnings (in the form of performance and

management fees) from entities including but not limited to Velocity and Vortex. Many of the

operational expenses for the EBCM-related entities, however, including the salaries of Wilson,

Freeman, and Settles, were paid not by EBCM, but by EBI.

VI. Violations of the Commodity Exchange Act

COUNT ONE

Violations of Section 4b(a)(2)(i), (iii) of the Act and
Section 4b(a)(1)(A), (C) of the Act, as amended by the CRA:

Futures Fraud by Misrepresentation by EBCM, EBI, and Wilson

17

18

63.

64.

Paragraphs 1 through 62 are realleged and incorporated herein by reference.

Prior to being amended by the CRA, Section 4b(a)(2)(i), (iii) of the Act, 7 U.S.C.

19

20

21

22

23

24

§ 6b(a)(2)(i), (iii) (2006), made it unlawful for any person:

in or in connection with any order to make, or the making of, any contract of sale
of any commodity for future delivery, made, or to be made, for or on behalf of
any other person ... : (i) to cheat or defraud or attempt to cheat or defraud such
other person; ... [or] (iii) willfully to deceive or attempt to deceive such other
person by any means whatsoever in regard to any such order or contract or the
disposition or execution of any such order or contract, or in regard to any act of
agency performed with respect to such order or contract for such person [with
respect to acts occurring before June 18, 2008].

25 65. Similarly, Section 4b(a)(l)(A), (C) of the Act, as amended by the CRA, to be

26 codified at 7 U.S.C. § 6b(a)(l)(A), (C), makes it unlawful for any person, in or in connection

27 with any order to make, or the making of, any contract of sale of any commodity in interstate

28

14
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7

8

commerce or for future delivery that is made, or to be made, on or subject to the rules of a

designated contract market, for or on behalf of any other person:

in or in connection with any order to make, or the making of, any contract of sale
of any commodity in interstate commerce or for future delivery that is made, or to
be made, or subject to the rules of a designated contract market, for or on behalf
of any other person ... : (A) to cheat or defraud or attempt to cheat or defraud the
other person; . . . [or] (C) willfully to deceive or attempt to deceive the other
person by any means whatsoever in regard to any order or contract or the
disposition or execution of any order or contract, or in regard to any act of agency
performed, with respect to any order or contract for . . . the other person [with
respect to acts occurring on or after June 18, 2008].

9
66. In connection with their trading of futures, EBCM and Wilson violated Section

10

11

12

13

14

15

16

17

18

19

4b(a)(2)(i), (iii) of the Act, 7 U.S.C. § 6b(a)(2)(i), (iii) (2006), with respect to acts occurring

before June 18,2008, and Section 4b(a)(I)(A), (C) of the Act, as amended by the CRA, to be

codified at 7 U.S.C. § 6b(a)(l )(A), (C), with respect to acts occurring on or after June 18,2008,

by willfully or recklessly: (a) misrepresenting to participants and prospective participants in

Velocity that their principal investments were secured or guaranteed in various ways. by use of

the Collateral Reserve; and/or (b) failing to disclose to participants that the Collateral Reserve

could not satisfy its guarantee obligations. Defendants' misrepresentations and omissions were

material in that reasonable investors would consider them important in making investment

decisions.

20
67. Wilson controlled EBCM and EBI, and did not act in good faith or knowingly

21

22

23

24

25

26

27

28

induced, directly or indirectly, the acts constituting those entities' violations alleged in this count.

Wilson is therefore liable for EBCM's and EBI's violations of Section 4b(a)(2)(i), (iii) of the

Act, 7 U.S.C. § 6b(a)(2)(i), (iii) (2006), with respect to acts occurring before June 18,2008, and

for EBCM's and EBI's violations of Section 4b(a)(I)(A), (C) of the Act, as amended by the

CRA, to be codified at 7 U.S.C. § 6b(a)(l)(A), (C), with respect to acts occuning on or after June

18,2008, as a controlling'person pursuant to Section 13(b) of the Act, 7 U.S.C. § 13c(b) (2006).

15
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68. Wilson was acting as an agent ofEBCM and EBI when he violated the Act. As a

result, pursuant to Section 2(a)(1)(B) of the Act, 7 U.S.C. § 2(a)(l)(B) (2006), and Regulation

1.2, 17 C.F.R. § 1.2 (2011), EBCM and EBI are liable for the acts constituting Wilson's

violations of Section 4b(a)(2)(i), (iii) of the Act, 7 U.S.C. § 6b(a)(2)(i), (iii) (2006), with respect

to acts occurring before June 18,2008, and for the acts constituting Wilson's violations of

Section 4b(a)(l)(A), (C) of the Act, as amended by the CRA, to be codified at 7 U.S.C. §

6b(a)(l )(A), (C), with respect to acts occurring on or after June 18,2008.

9
69. EBI participated in a Common Enterprise together with EBCM and is thus liable

10

11

12

13

for EBCM's violations of Section 4b(a)(2)(i), (iii) of the Act, 7 U.S.C. § 6b(a)(2)(i), (iii) (2006),

with respect to acts occurring before June 18, 2008, and for EBCM's violations of Section

4b(a)(l)(A), (C) of the Act, as amended by the CRA, to be codified at 7 U.S.C. § 6b(a)(l)(A),

(C), with respect to acts occurring on or after June 18, 2008,

14 70. Each act of misrepresentation or omission of a material fact, including. but not

15

16

17

18

19

20

21

22

23

limited to those specifically alleged herein, is alleged as a separate and distinct violation of

Section 4b(a)(2)(i), (iii) of the Act, 7 U.S.C. § 6b(a)(2)(i), (iii) (2006), with respect to acts

occurring before June 18,2008, and of Section 4b(a)(l)(A), (C) of the Act, as amended, by the

CRA, to be codified at 7 U.S.C. § 6b(a)(l)(A), (C), with respect to acts occurring on or after June

18,2008.

COUNT TWO

Violations of Section 4b(a)(2)(A), (C) of the Act,
as amended by the CRA:

Forex Fraud by Misrepresentation by All Defendants

24

25

71.

72.

Paragraphs 1 through 62 are realleged and incorporated herein by reference.

As of June 18,2008, Section 4b(a)(2)(A), (C) of the Act, as amended by the CRA,

26

27

28

to be codified at 7 U.S.C. § 6b(a)(2)(A), (C), make it unlawful for any person:

16
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in or in connection with any order to make, or the making of, any contract of sale
of any commodity for future delivery, or other agreement, contract, or transaction
subject to paragraphs (1) and (2) of section 5a(g), that is made, or to be made, for
or on behalf of, or with, any other person, other than or sUbject to the rules of a
designated contract market - (A) to cheat or defraud or attempt to cheat or
defraud the other person; ... [or] (C) willfully to deceive or attempt to deceive
the other person by any means whatsoever in regard to any order or contract or
the disposition or execution of any order or contract, or in regard to any act of

. agency performed, with respect to any order or contract for ... the other person ..

7 73. In connection with their off-exchange retail forex transactions, Defendants

8

9

10

11

12

13

14

15

violated Section 4b(a)(2)(A), (C) of the Act, as amended by the CRA, to be codified at 7 U.S.C.

§ 6b(a)(2)(A), (C), by willfully or recklessly: (a) misrepresenting to customers and prospective

customers in Vortex and EBFXMA that their principal investments were secured or guaranteed

in various ways by use of the Collateral Reserve; and/or (b) failing to disclose to customers that

the Collateral Reserve could not satisfy its guarantee obligations. Defendants'

misrepresentations and omissions were material in that reasonable investors would consider them

important in making investment decisions.

16 74. Wilson controlled EBCM, EBI, and EBFX, and did not act in good faith or

17

18

19

20

knowingly induced, directly or indirectly, the acts constituting those entities' violations alleged

in this count. Wilson is therefore liable for EBCM's, EBI's, and EBFX's violations of Section

4b(a)(2)(A), (C) of the Act, as amended by the CRA, to be codified at 7 U.S.C. § 6b(a)(2)(A),

(C) as a controlling person pursuant to Section 13(b) of the Act, 7 U.S.C. § 13c(b) (2006).

21
75. Wilson was acting as an agent of EBCM, EBI, and EBFX when he violated the

22

23

24

25

26

27

28

Act. As a result, pursuant to Section 2(a)(1)(B) of the Act, 7 U.S.C. § 2(a)(1)(B) (2006), and

Regulation 1.2, 17 C.F.R. § 1.2 (2011), EBCM, EBI, and EBFX are liable for the acts

constituting Wilson's violations Section 4b(a)(2)(A), (C) of the Act, as amended by the CRA, to

be codified at 7 U.S.C. § 6b(a)(2)(A), (C).

17
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76. EBl participated in a Common Enterprise together with EBCM and is thus liable

for EBCM's violations of Section 4b(a)(2)(A), (C) of the Act, as amended by the CRA, to be

codified at 7 U.S.C. § 6b(a)(2)(A), (C).

77. Each act of misrepresentation or omission of a material fact, including but not

limited to those specifically alleged herein, is alleged as a separate and distinct violation of

Section 4b(a)(2)(A), (C) of the Act, as amended by the CRA, to be codified at 7 U.S.C.

§ 6b(a)(2)(A) (C).

COUNT THREE

Violations of Section 4b(a)(2)(i), (iii) of the Act and
Section 4b(a)(1)(A), (C) of the Act, as amended by the CRA:

Futures Fraud by Misappropriation by EBCM, EBI, and Wilson

12

13

78.

79.

Paragraphs 1 through 62 are realleged and incorporated herein by reference.

EBCM and Wilson violated Section 4b(a)(2)(i), (iii) of the Act, 7 U.S.C.

14

15

16

17

18

19

§ 6b(a)(2)(i), (iii) (2006), with respect to acts occurring before June 18,2008, and Section

4b(a)(I)(A), (C) ofthe Act, as amended by the CRA, to be codified at 7 U.S.C. § 6b(a)(l)(A),

(C), with respect to acts occurring on or after June 18,2008, in that they cheated or defrauded, or

attempted to cheat or defraud, and willfully deceived, or attempted to deceive, customers by

misappropriating at least $72,000 of Velocity participants' funds.

20
80. Wilson controlled EBCM, and did not act in good faith or knowingly induced,

21

22

23

24

25

26

27

28

directly or indirectly, the acts constituting EBCM's violations alleged in this count. Wilson is

therefore liable for EBCM's violations of Section 4b(a)(2)(i), (iii) of the Act, 7 U.S.C.

§ 6b(a)(2)(i), (iii) (2006), with respect to acts occurring before June 18,2008, and for EBCM's

violations of Sections 4b(a)(l)(A), (C) of the Act, as amended by the CRA, to be codified at

7 U.S.C. § 6b(a)(l )(A), (C), with respect to acts occurring on or after June 18,2008, as a

controlling person pursuant to Section 13(b) of the Act, 7 U.S.C. § 13c(b) (2006).

18
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81. Wilson was acting as an agent of EBCM when he violated the Act. As a result,

pursuant to Section 2(a)(l)(B) of the Act, 7 U.S.C. § 2(a)(1)(B) (2006), and Regulation 1.2, 17

C.F.R. § 1.2 (2011), EBCM is liable for the acts constituting Wilson's violations of Section

4b(a)(2)(i), (iii) of the Act, 7 U.S.C. § 6b(a)(2)(i), (iii)(2006), with respect to acts occurring

before June 18,2008, and for the acts constituting Wilson's violations of Section 4b(a)(l)(A),

(C) of the Act as amended by the CRA, to be codified at 7 U.S.C.§§ 6b(a)(l)(A) and (C), with

respect to acts occurring on or after June 18, 2008.

9
82. EBI pmiicipated in a Common Enterprise together with EBCM and is therefore

10

11

12

13

14

15

16

17

18

19

20

21

22

liable for EBCM's violations of Section 4b(a)(2)(i), (iii) of the Act, 7 U.S.C. § 6b(a)(2)(i), (iii)

(2006), with respect to acts occurring before June 18, 2008, and for EBCM's violations of

Section 4b(a)(l)(A), (C) of the Act, as amended by the CRA, to be codified at 7 U.S.C.

§ 6b(a)(l)(A), (C), with respect to acts occurring on or after June 18,2008. Each act of

misappropriating pool pmiicipant funds, including but not limited to those specifically alleged

herein, is alleged as a separate and distinct violation of Section 4b(a)(2)(i), (iii) of the Act,

7 U.S.C. § 6b(a)(2)(i), (iii) (2006), with respect to acts occurring before June 18,2008, and of

Section 4b(a)(l)(A), (C) of the Act,as amended by the CRA, to be codified at 7 U.S.C.

§ 6b(a)(l)(A), (C), with respect to acts occurring on or after June 18,2008.

COUNT FOUR

Violations of Section 4b(a)(2)(ii) ofthe Act and
Section 4b(a)(1)(B) of the Act, as amended by the CRA:

Futures Fraud by False Statements by EBCM, EBI, and Wilson

23

24

83.

84.

Paragraphs 1 through 62 are realleged and incorporated herein by reference.

Prior to being amended by the CRA, Section 4b(a)(2)(ii) of the Act, 7 U.S.C.

25 § 6b(a)(2)(ii) (2006), made it unlawful for any person, in or in connection with any order to

26 make, or the making of, any futures contract, for or on behalf of any other person "willfully to

27

28
19
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19

20
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22

23

24

25

26

27

28

make or cause to be made to such other person any false report or statement ..., or willfully to

enter or cause to be entered for such person any false record," with respect to acts occurring

before June 18,2008.

85. Similarly, Section 4b(a)(l)(B) of the Act, as amended by the CRA, to be codified

at 7 U.S.C. § 6b(a)(l)(B), makes it unlawful for any person, in or in connection with any order to

make, or the making of, any contract of sale of any commodity in interstate commerce or for

future delivery that is made, or to be made, on or subject to the rules of a designated contract

market, for or on behalf of any other person "willfully to make or cause to be made to the other

person any false report or statement or willfully to enter or cause to be entered for the other

person any false record," with respect to acts occurring on or after June 18,2008.

86. EBCM and Wilson violated Section 4b(a)(2)(ii) of the Act, 7 U.S.C. § 6b(a)(2)(ii)

(2006), with respect to acts occurring before June 18,2008, and Section 4b(a)(l)(B) of the Act,

as amended by the CRA, to be codified at 7 U.S.C. § 6b(a)(l)(B), with respect to acts occurring

on or after June 18, 2008, in that they willfully made, or caused to be made, false statements to

Velocity pool participants that overstated the value of participants' interests in the pool.

87. Wilson controlled EBCM, a CPO, and did not act in good faith or knowingly

induced, directly or indirectly, the acts constituting EBCM's violations alleged in this count.

Wilson is therefore liable for EBCM's violations of Section 4b(a)(2)(ii) of the Act, 7 U.S.C.

§ 6b(a)(2)(ii) (2006), with respect to acts occurring before June 18,2008, and for EBCM's

violations of Section 4b(a)(l)(B) of the Act, as amended by the CRA, to be codified at

7 U.S.C. § 6b(a)(1)(B), with respect to acts occurring on or after June 18,2008, as a controlling

person pursuant to Section 13(b) of the Act, 7 U.S.C. § 13c(b) (2006).

88. Wilson was acting as an agent ofEBCM, a CPO, when he violated the Act.

Therefore, EBCM, as Wilson's principal, is liable for the acts constituting Wilson's violations of

20
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Section 4b(a)(2)(ii) of the Act, 7 U.S.C. § 6b(a)(2)(ii) (2006), with respect to acts occurring

before June 18,2008, and for the acts constituting Wilson's violations of Section 4b(a)(1)(B) of

the Act, as amended by the CRA, to be codified at 7 U.S.C. § 6b(a)(1)(B), with respect to acts

occurring on or after June 18,2008, pursuant to Section 2(a)(1)(B) of the Act, 7 U.S.C.

§ 2(a)(1)(B) (2006), and Regulation 1.2, 17 C.F.R. § 1.2 (2011).

7
89. EBI participated in a Common Enterprise together with EBCM and is therefore

8

9

10

11

liable for EBCM's violations of Section 4b(a)(2)(ii) of the Act, 7 U.S.C. § 6b(a)(2)(ii) (2006),

with respect to acts occurring before June 18, 2008, and for EBCM' s violations of Section

4b(a)(1)(B) of the Act, as amended by the CRA, to be codified at 7 U.S.C. § 6b(a)(1)(B), with

respect to acts occurring on or after June 18,2008.

12 90. Each act of making or causing others to make a false report or statement,

13

14

15

16

including, but not limited to, those specifically alleged herein, is alleged as a separate and

distinct violation of Section 4b(a)(2)(ii) of the Act, 7 U.S.C. § 6b(a)(2)(ii) (2006), with respect to

acts occurring before June 18, 2008, and of Section 4b(a)(1)(B) of the Act, as amended by the

CRA, to be codified at 7 U.S.C. § 6b(a)(1)(B), with respect to acts occurringon or after June 18,

17
2008.

18

19

20

21
91.

22
92.

23

COUNT FIVE

Violations of Section 4o(1)(A), (B) of the Act:
Pool Fraud by a CPO and AP of a CPO by EBCM, EBI, and Wilson

Paragraphs 1 through 62 are realleged and incorporated herein by reference.

Section 40(1) ofthe Act, 7 U.S.C. § 60(1) (2006), in relevant part, makes it

24

25

26

27

28

unlawful for a CPO or an AP of a CPO, by use of the mails or any means or instrumentality of

interstate commerce, directly or indirectly: "(A) to employ any device, scheme or miifice to

defraud any ... paliicipant; or (B) to engage in any transaction, practice or course of business

which operates as a fraud or deceit upon any ... pmiicipant or prospective ... participant."

21
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93. EBCM acted as a CPO in that it engaged in a business that is of the nature of an

investment trust, syndicate or similar form of enterprise, and in connection therewith, solicited,

accepted or received funds, securities or property from others for the purpose of trading in

commodities for future delivery on or subject to the rules of any contract market.

94. Wilson acted as an AP of a CPO in that, as an agent ofEBCM, he solicited and

accepted funds, securities or property for EBCM.

95. EBCM and Wilson violated Section 4o(l)(A), (B) of the Act, 7 U.S.c.

§ 6o(1)(A), (B) (2006), in that, as a CPO and AP ofa CPO, they directly or indirectly employed

a device, scheme or artifice to defraud pool participants and engaged in transactions, practices or

a course of business which operated as a fraud or deceit upon pool participants by acts including

but not limited to: (a) willfully or recklessly misrepresenting to participants and prospective

participants in the Velocity pool that their principal investments were secured or guaranteed in

various ways by use of the Collateral Reserve; (b) willfully or recklessly failing to disclose to

participants that the Collateral Reserve could not satisfy its guarantee obligations;

(c) misappropriating at least $72,000 of Velocity participants' funds; and (d) willfully making or

causing to be made false statements to Velocity pool participants that overstated the value of

participants' interests in the pool.

96. EBCM's and Wilson's misrepresentations were material in that reasonable

investors would consider them important in making investment decisions. EBCM's and

Wilson's omissions were material because EBCM's and Wilson's affirmative statements would

mislead participants or prospective participants unless the full truth was disclosed.

97. EBCM and Wilson engaged in such acts by use of the mails and other means or

instrumentalities of interstate commerce.

22
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98. Wilson controlled EBCM, a CPO, and did not act in good faith or knowingly

induced, directly or indirectly, the acts constituting EBCM's violations alleged in this count.

Wilson is therefore liable for EBCM's violations of Section 4o(1)(A), (B) of the Act, 7 U.S.C.

§ 6o(1)(A), (B) (2006), as a controlling person pursuant to Section l3(b) ofthe Act, 7 U.S.C. §

13c(b) (2006).

99. Wilson was acting as an agent ofEBCM, a CPO, when he violated the Act.

Therefore, EBCM, as Wilson's principal, is liable for the acts constituting Wilson's violations of

Section 4o(1)(A), (B) of the Act, 7 U.S.C. § 6o(1)(A), (B) (2006), pursuant to Section 2(a)(I)(B)

of the Act, 7 U.S.C. § 2(a)(1)(B) (2006), and Regulation 1.2, 17 C.F.R. § 1.2 (2011).

11 100. EBI participated in a Common Enterprise together with EBCM and is therefore

12

13

14

15

16

17

18

19

20

21

22

23

24

25

26

27

28

liable for the acts constituting EBCM's violations alleged in this count. EBI is therefore liable

for EBCM's violations of Section 4o(I)(A), (B) of the Act, 7 U.S.C. § 6o(1)(A), (B) (2006).

101. Each misrepresentation or omission of a material fact, and each act of

misappropriating pool participant funds or making or causing others to make false statements to

pool participants, including but not limited to those specifically alleged herein, is alleged as a

separate and distinct violation of Section 4o(I)(A), (B) of the Act, 7 U.S.C. § 6o(1)(A), (B)

(2006).

COUNT SIX

Violations of Section 4m(1) of the Act:
Failure to Register as a CPO by EBCM and Wilson

102. Paragraphs 1 through 62 are realleged and incorporated herein by reference.

103. With certain exemptions and exclusions not applicable here, it is unlawful for any

CPO to make use of the mails or other means or instrumentalities of interstate commerce in

connection with its CPO business unless registered with the Commission pursuant to Section

4m(1) of the Act, 7 U.S.C. § 6m(1) (2006).

23
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104. EBCM violated Section 4m(1) of the Act, 7 U.S.C. § 6m(1) (2006), in that EBCM

acted as the CPO of the Velocity commodity pool without the benefit of registration as a CPO,

and in connection therewith, made use of the mails or other means or instrumentalities of

interstate commerce.

105. Wilson controlled EBCM and did not act in good faith or knowingly induced,

directly or indirectly, the acts constituting EBCM's violations alleged in this count. Wilson is

therefore liable for EBCM's violations of Section 4m(1) of the Act, 7 U.S.C. § 6m(1) (2006), as

a controlling person pursuant to Sectioi113(b) of the Act, 7 U.S.C. § 13c(b) (2006).

106. Each use of the mails or other means or instrumentalities of interstate commerce

in connection with EBCM's operation as a CPO without proper registration, including, but not

limited to, those specifically alleged herein, is alleged as a separate and distinct violation of

Section 4m(1) of the Act, 7 U.S.C. § 6m(1) (2006).

COUNT SEVEN

Violations of Section 4k(2) of the Act:
Failure to Register as an AP of a CPO by Wilson and EBCM

17 107. Paragraphs I through 62 are realleged and incorporated herein by reference.

18 108. With certain exemptions and exclusions not applicable here, it is unlawful for a

19

20

21

22

23

24

25

26

27

28

person to be associated with a CPO as a partner, officer, employee, consultant or agent, or a

person occupying a similar status or performing similar functions, in any capacity that involves

the solicitation of funds, securities or property for participation in a commodity pool unless

registered with the Commission as an AP of the CPO pursuant to Section 4k(2) of the Act,

7 U.S.C. § 6k(2) (2006).

109. Section 4k(2) of the Act, 7 U.S.C. § 6k(2) (2006), also makes it unlawful for a

CPO to permit such a person to become or remain associated with the CPO in any such capacity

if the CPO knew or should have known that the person was not registered as an AP.
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110. Wilson violated Section 4k(2) of the Act, 7 U.S.C. § 6k(2) (2006), in that he acted

as an AP of a CPO by soliciting participants and accepting funds for Velocity without the benefit

of registration as an AP of a CPO.

111. EBCM violated Section 4k(2) of the Act, 7 U.S.C. § 6k(2) (2006), in that, acting

as a CPO, EBCM allowed Wilson to act as its AP when it knew or should have known that

Wilson was not registered as an AP.

VII. Relief Requested

WHEREFORE, the Commission respectfully requests that this Court, as authorized by

Section 6c of the Act, 7 U.S.C. § 13a-l (2006), and pursuant to its own equitable powers:

A. Find:

1. Defendants EBCM, EBI, and Wilson liable for violating Section

4b(a)(2)(i)-(iii) of the Act, 7 U.S.C. § 6b(a)(2)(i)-(iii) (2006), with respect to acts

occurring before June 18,2008, and Section 4b(a)(l)(A)-(C) of the Act, as amended by

the CRA, to be codified at 7 U.S.C. § 6b(a)(l)(A)-(C), with respect to acts occurring on

or after June 18,2008; and Section 4o(l)(A), (B) of the Act, 7 U.S.C. § 6o(l)(A), (B)

(2006);

2. all Defendants liable for violating Section 4b(a)(2)(A), (C) of the Act, as

amended by the CRA, to be codified at 7 U.S.C. § 6b(a)(2)(A), (c);

3. Defendants EBCM and Wilson liable for violating Sections 4m(l) and

4k(2) of the Act, 7 U.S.C. §§ 6m(l) and 6k(2) (2006);

B. Enter a statutory restraining order with notice and/or order ofpreliminary

injunction pursuant to Section 6c(a) of the Act, 7 U.S.C. § 13a-l(a) (2006), restraining

Defendants and all persons insofar as they are acting in the capacity of Defendants' agents,

servants, successors, employees, assigns and attorneys, and all persons insofar as they are acting
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in active concert or participation with Defendants who receive actual notice of such order by

personal service or otherwise, from directly or indirectly:

1. destroying, mutilating, concealing, altering or disposing of any books and

records, documents, correspondence, brochures, manuals, electronically stored data, tape

records or other property of Defendants, wherever located, including all such records

concerning Defendants' business operations;

2. refusing to permit authorized representatives of the Commission to

inspect, when and as requested, any books and records, documents, correspondence,

brochures, manuals, electronically stored data, tape records or other propeliy of

Defendants, wherever located, including all such records concerning Defendants'

business operations; and

3. withdrawing, transferring, removing, dissipating, concealing or disposing

of, in any manner, any funds, assets or other property, wherever situated, including, but

not limited to, all funds, personal property, money or securities held in safes or safety

deposit boxes and all funds on deposit in any financial institution, bank or savings and

loan account held by, under the actual or constructive control of or in the name of

Defendants;

C. Enter an order directing that Defendants make an accounting to the Court of all of

Defendants' assets and liabilities, together with all funds Defendants received from and paid to

pool participants and other persons in connection with forex, commodity futures, and commodity

futures options transactions or purported forex, commodity futures, and commodity futures

options transactions, including the names, mailing addresses, email addresses and telephone

numbers of any such persons from whom they received such funds from January 1,2006 to the

date of such accounting, and all disbursements for any purpose whatsoever of funds received
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from pool participants or other customers or investors, including salaries, commissions, fees,

loans and other disbursements of money and property of any kind, from January 1, 2006 to and

including the date of such accounting;

D. Enter orders of preliminary and permanent injunction enjoining:

1. Defendants EBCM, EBI, and Wilson, and all persons insofar as they are

acting in the capacity of their agents, servants, employees, successors, assigns and

attorneys, and all persons insofar as they are acting in active conceli or participation with

Defendants who receive actual notice of such order by personal service or otherwise,

from directly or indirectly engaging in conduct in violation of Section 4b(a)(l )(A)-(C) of

the Act, as amended by the CRA, and ~he Dodd-Frank Act, to be codified at 7 U.S.C.

§ 6b(a)(l)(A)-(C); and Section 4o(l)(A), (B) of the Act, 7 U.S.C. § 6o(l)(A), (B) (2006);

2. all Defendants and all persons insofar as they are acting in the capacity of

their agents, servants, employees, successors, assigns and attorneys, and all persons

insofar as they are acting in active concert or pmiicipation with Defendants who receive

actual notice of such order by personal service or otherwise, from directly or indirectly

engaging in conduct in violation of Section 4b(a)(2)(A), (C) of the Act, as amended by

the CRA, and the Dodd-Frank Act, to be codified at 7 U.S.C. § 6b(a)(2)(A), (C);

3. Defendants EBCM and Wilson, and all persons insofar as they are acting

in the capacity of their agents, servants, employees, successors, assigns and attorneys,

and all persons insofar as they are acting in active concert or participation with

Defendants who receive actual notice of such order by personal service or otherwise,

from directly or indirectly engaging in conduct in violation of Sections 4m(l) and 4k(2)

of the Act, 7 U.S.C. §§ 6m(l) and 6k(2) (2006);
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E. Enter further orders of preliminary and permanent injunction enjoining all

Defendants from:

1. trading on or subject to the rules of any registered entity (as that term is

defined in Section la of the Act, to be codified at 7 U.S.C. § la;

2. entering into any transactions involving commodity futures, options on

commodity futures, commodity options (as that term is defined in Commission

Regulation 32.1 (b)(1), 17 C.F .R. § 32.1 (b)(1) (2011» ("commodity options") and/or

foreign currency (as described in Sections 2(c)(2)(B) and 2(c)(2)(C)(i) of the Act as

amended by the CRA, to be codified at 7 U.S.C. §§ 2(c)(2)(B) and 2(c)(2)(C)(i» ("forex

contracts") for any personal or proprietary account or for any account in which they have

a direct or indirect interest;

3. having any commodity futures, options on commodity futures, commodity

options and/or forex contracts traded on their behalf

4. controlling or directing the trading for or on behalf of any other person or

entity, whether by power of attorney or otherwise, in any account involving commodity

futures, options on commodity futures, commodity options and/or forex contracts

5. soliciting, receiving or accepting any funds from any person for the

purpose of purchasing or selling any commodity futures, options on commodity futures,

commodity options and/or forex contracts;

6. applying for registration or claiming exemption from registration with the

Commission in any capacity, and engaging in any activity requiring such registration or

exemption from registration with the Commission, except as provided for in Regulation

4.l4(a)(9), 17 C.F.R. § 4.l4(a)(9) (2011);
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7. acting as a principal (as that term is defined in Regulation 3.1 (a), 17

C.F.R. § 3.1(a) (2011)), agent or any other officer or employee of any person registered,

exempted from registration or required to be registered with the Commission, except as

provided for in Regulation 4.l4(a)(9), 17 C.F.R. § 4.14(a)(9) (2011);

F. Enter an order requiring Defendants to disgorge to any officer appointed or

directed by the Court, or directly to customers of the Elsworth Products, all benefits received,

including, but not limited to, salaries, commissions, loans, fees, revenues and trading profits

derived, directly or indirectly, from acts or practices which constitute violations of the Act as

described herein, including pre-judgment and post-judgment interest;

G. Enter an order directing Defendants and any successors thereof to rescind,

pursuant to such procedures as the Court may order, all contracts and agreements, whether

implied or express, entered into between Defendants and any of the customers of the Elsworth

Products whose funds were received by Defendants as a result of the acts and practices which

constituted violations of the Act as described herein;

H. Enter an order directing Defendants to make full restitution to every person or

entity whose funds Defendants received or caused another person or entity to receive as a result

of acts and practices that constituted violations of the Act as described herein, and pre- and post

judgment interest thereon from the date of such violations;

1. Enter an order directing each Defendant to pay a civil monetary penalty in the

amount of not more than the greater of (l) triple the monetary gain to Defendants for each

violation of the Act; or (2) $120,000 for each violation of the Act committed before October 22,

2004, $130,000 for each violation of the Act committed from October 23,2004 through October

22,2008, and $140,000 for each violation of the Act committed on or after October 23,2008;
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1. Enter an order requiring Defendants to pay costs and fees as permitted by

28 U.S.C. §§ 1920 and 2412(a)(2) (2006); and

3
K. Enter an order providing such other and further relief as this COUli may deem

4

5

necessary and appropriate under the circumstances.
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Date: July 27, 2011
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Respectfully submitted,

~tno¢II
Attorney for Plaintiff
Email: tpolley@cftc.gov

/s/ William P. Janulis
Attorney for Plaintiff
Email: wjanulis@cftc.gov
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